
CONCLUSIONS

250.'~ The Agency's detention and ,

interrogation of terrorists has provided intelligence that has enabled
the identificati(~man,d apprehension of other terrorists and warned of
terrorist plots planned for the United States and around the world.
The CTC Detention and Interrogation Program has resulted in the
issuance of thousands of individual intelligence reports and analytic
products supporting the counterterrorismeffortsofU.S. ,

policymakers and military commanders. The effectiveness of
particular interrogation techniques In eliciting information that.might
not otherwise have been obtained cannot be so easily measured,
however.

if'

251. ~ After 11 September 2001,nUmerous
Agency components and individuals invested immense time and
effort to implement the CTCProgram quickly, effectively, and within
the law,. The work of the DIrectorate of Operations, Counterterrorist
Center (CTC), Office of General CoUnsel(OGC)JOffice of Medical
Services (OMS)JOffice of Technical Service (OTS)

_has been especially.notable. In effect,they began with
almost no foundation, as the Agency had discontinued virtually all
involvement in interrogations after encountering difficult issues with
earlier interrogation programs in Centra~America and the Near East.
Inevitably, there also have been some problems with current '

activities.

, 25~. ~ OGCworked closelywith Do}to determine the
legality of the measures that,came to be known as enhanced
interrogation techniques (EITs). OGC also consulted with White
House and National Security Council officialsregarding the
proposed'techniques. Those efforts and the resulting Do}legal
opinion of 1 August 2002 are well documented. That legal opinion
was basedJ in substantial partJ on OTSanalysis and the experience
and expertise of non-Agency persormel and academics concerning
wtlether long-term psychological effectswould result from use of the'
proposed techniques.
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253. ~ The Do}legal opinion upon which the Agency
relies is based upon technical definitions of "severe" treatment and
the "intent" of the interrogators, and consists of finely detailed
analysis to buttress the conclusion that Agency officers properly
carrying out EITswould not violate the Torture Convention's.
prohibition of torture, nor would they be subject to criminal
prosecution Under the U.S. torture statute. The opinion does not
address the separate question of whether the application of standard
or enhanced techniques by Agency officers is consistent with the
undertaking, accepted conditionally by the United States regarding
Article 16 of the Torture Convention, to prevent "cruel, inhuman or
degrading treatment or punishment."

254.- Periodic efforts by the Agency to elicit
reaffirmation of Administration policy and Do}legal backing for the

. . Agency's use of EITs-as they have actuallybeen employed-have
been well advised and successful. However, in this process, Agency
officials have neither sought nor been provided a written statement
of policy or a formal.signed update of the Do}legal opinion,
including such important determinations as the meaning and
applicability of Article 16 of the Torture Convention. In July 2003, the
DCI and the General Counsel briefed senior Administration officials

on the Agency's expanded use of EITs. At that time, the Attorney
. General affirmed that the Agency's conduct remainedwen within the

scope of the 1 August 2002DoJ legal opinion.

255.- A number of Agency officers of various
grade levels who are involved with detention and interrogation

. . activities are concernedthat they may at somefuture date be
vulnerable to legal action in the United States or abroad and that the
U.S. Government will not stand behind them. Although the current
detention and interrogation Program has been subject to Do}legal
review and Administration political approval, it diverges sharply
from previous Agency policy and practice, rules that govern
interrogations by U.S. military and law enforcement officers,

statements of U.S.policyby the Departmen.tof State,and public
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statements by very senior U.S. officials,inclucling the President, as
well as the policies expressed by Members of Congress, other

, Western governments,internationalorganizations,and human rights
groups. In addition, some Agency officers are aware of interrogation
activities that were outside or beyond the scope of the written DoJ
opinion. Officers are concerned that future public revelation of the
CTC Program is inevitable and will seriously damage Agency
officers' personal reputations, as well as the reputation and
effectiveness of the Agency itself.

In particular, CTC did a commendable iob in directing the
interrogations of high value detainees at
At these foreign locations, Agency personnel-with one notable
exception described in this Review-followed guidance and
procedures and documented their activities well. .

257. (Ts.,( By distinction, the Agency-especially
in the.early months of the Program-failed to provide adequate
staffing, guidance, and support to those involved with the detention
and interrogation of detainees in

258. ~Unauthorized, improvised, inhumane,
and undocumented detent!on and interrogation techniques were
used

rosecution.-
incident will be the



~

~

subject of a se
General.

unauthOrIZed techniques were used in the interrogation ot an
individual who died at Asadabad Base while under interrogation by
an Agency contractor in June 2003. A 'enc officers did not normally
conduct interrogations at that location the Agency
officers involved lacked timely and adequa e gUl an~e, training,
experience, supervision, or authorization, and did not exercise sound
judgment.

259. ~ The Agency failed to issue in a timely
. manner comprehensive written guidelines for detention and
interrogation activities. 'Although ad hoc guidance was provided to
many officers through cables a~d briefings in the early months of
detention and interrogation activities, the DCI Confinement and,
Interrogation Guidelines were not issued until January 2003, several
months after initiation of interrogation activitv and after many of the
unauthorized activities had taken place.

. 260. ~ Such written guidance as does exist to
address detentions and interrogatipns tmdertaken by Agency officers

"sinadequate. The
Directorate of Operations Handbook contains a single paragraph that
is intended to guide officers- -

Neither this dated guidance nor general
Agency guidelines on routine intelligence collectionis adequate to
instruct and protect Agency officers involved in contemporary
interrogation activities

, !
. !,

261. ~ During the interrogations of two
detainees, the waterboard was used in a manner inconsistent with the
written DoJ legal opinion of 1 August 2002. DoJhad stipulated that

\
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itS advice was base<;lupon certain facts that the Agency had
submitted to DoJ, observing, for example, that ". . . you (the Agency)
have also orally informed us that although some of these techniques
may be used with more than once [sic],that repetition will not be
substantial because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness
after several tepetitionB." One key AI-Ga'ida terrorist was subiected
to the waterboardat least 183times

d was denied sleep for a period of 180hours.
. In this and another instance, the technique of application and volume

of water used differed from the DoJ opinion.

OMS did not issue formal medical guidelines
. until April 2003.,Per the advice of CTC/Legal, the OMS Guidelines
were then issued as "draft" and remain so even after being re-issued
in September 2003.

264. ~ Agency officers report that reliance on
analytical assessments that were unsupported by credible intelligence
may have resulted in the application of EITswithout justification.
Some participants in the Program, particularly field interrogators,
judge that CTC assessments to the effect that detainees are .

withholding information are not always supported by an objective
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evaluation of available information and the evaluation of the

interrogators but are too heavily based, instead, on presumptions of
what the individual might or should knOW.

266. ~ The Agency faces potentially serious
long-term political and leg'a!~hallenges as a result of the CTC
Deter:ttion'and'Interrogation Program, particularly its use of EITs and
the inability of the U.S. Government to decide what it will ultimately
do with terrorists detaine~ by the Agency.
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PROCEDURES.AND RESOURCES

1. ~.A team, led by the Deputy Inspector
General, and comprising the Assistant Inspector General for
Investigations, the CQunsel to the Inspector General, a senior
Investigations StaffManager, three Investigators, two Inspectors, an
Auditor, aRes~arch Assistant, and a Secretary participated in this
-Review.

2. ~. OIG.tasked relevant components for all
information regarding the treatment and interrogation of all
individuals detained by or on behalf of CIA after 9/11. Agency
components provided OrG with over 38,000 pages of documents.
Ole conducted over 100 interviews with individuals who possessed
potentially relevant information. We interviewed senior Agency
management officials, including the DCI,the Deputy Director of
Central Intelligence, the Executive Directorl the General Counsel, and
the Deputy Director for Operations. As new information developed,
OrG re-interviewed several individuals.

orc personnel made site visits to the
interrogation facilities. OIC personnel also

to review 92videotapes of interrogations
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P L '-I rlm",,' ofJustice~ U.S.Depa

Office of Ugal Cou.i1sel

Office of lh<:AssiSb!\tAUomey~=j lPilJhinglM. D.C 10S]!J

August 1. 2002

Memorandu.m for John Rizzo

Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agenc.y

lnferr(JgcZJion of ez1Qaecia Operative

You have asked for this Offices vi~ws0J1.wheth~rcer'~ proposed conduct would
.violate the prohibition against torture found at Section 2340A of title 18 of the Unite4 Sfu.tes
Code. You have asked for tills advice in the coutse of conducting interrogations of Abu'
Zubaydah. As we understand it, Zubaydah is one of the highest ranking members of the ~l Qaeda
te-IToristorganv..ation, \I,'ithwhich the United States is cUlTentlyengagoo in an international armed
tonflict foUowing the attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon on September 11,
200 L This letter memorialli:es our previous oral advice, .givenon July 24. 2002 and J11ly26,
2002, that the proposed conduct would not vi()latethis prohibition.

L

Our advi~ is based Updrithe fuIJPwingfacts.,whieh you hav~ provided,to us. We also
understand that yeu do not have any facts in Yburp.oss~sion contrary to the facts outli~ed.here,
and this opinion is limited to these facts. Ifthe$e facts were to ch.ange~this advice-would not
necessarily apply~ Zubaydah is curreutly being hcld by tbe United States. Tbe interrogation tea..rn
is certain that he has additional informa'tionthat he refuses to divulge. Specifically, he is .

withliolding information regarding terrorist JletwQrksin the United States or in Sandi Arabfa and
information regarding plans to conduct attacks within the United States or against our interests
overseas. Zubaydah has become accustomed to a certain level oftteatment and displaYS.I+osigns
of 'ovillingnessto dlsclose furtheEinforinatiqn. More{)ver,your intelligence indicates that tQ~ is
currently a level of "chatter" eq.ualto that which preceded the Se.ptemberII ,attacks. In light of
the infoI:IIJii!ionyou believe ZUbaydahhas.ana th~ h,ighJewelof tl1reatyou believe now exists,
youwish to move the intClT:Ogationsintowhatyouhave'described.as'an"increasedpressure
phase." .

As part oftl1is increased pressure phase. Zubaydah will have contact only with a new
interrogation specialist, whOil he bas not mot previously, and the Survival. Evasion, Resistance.
Escape ("SERE") training psychologist whv has been involved with the inrerrogations since they
began. 111isphase will likely last no more than several days but could last up to thirty days. In
tilis phase. you would like to employ ten techniques that you believe will dislocate his.

.~c-- ~RET
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expectations regarding tht treatmenthe believes he will receive and encourage.11imto dis.;lose
th~ crucial infonnation mentioned above. These ten techniques are: (1) attention grasp, (2)
waliing, (3) fa:cialhold, (4) facial slap (insult slap), (5) cramped confinement, (6) wall stan<iing,
(7) stress positions, (8) sleep deprivation, (9) insects placed ill a {X)nfin~mentbox, and (10) the
waterboard. You have informed us that the use ofthese techniques would be on an as-needed
-basis and that not aJl of these techniques will necessarilybe used. 'n,e intmogation t~ would
usethese techniques in some combination.to convince Zubaydah that rb,eonly way.he can
influellce his surrounding environment is through cooperation. Yon have.,however, informed us
that you expect these techniques to be used in some sort of escala:dngfashicm,culminating \villi
the water-board,though hOtnecessarily ending with tlijstechnique, Moreover, you-..have.a!so
oraUy informe<ius that although some..of these techniques may be used \\1th more than once, that
repeti tion will not be substantial beiause the techniquesgeneraI!ylose their effectlv~ness aftet
several repetitions. You have alsoinfort1{edus that Zabaydah sustained a wounddur:itLgbis
ca.pture, which i$ being treated.

Based on the f-acts you have given us, we 1.t!1derstandeach of the.serecbniques to be as
fQUaws. The attention. grasp consists of gI;asping the individual with both hands, one hand on

each sideoffue. coUar opening, ina cOntrolled and-quick motion. In th~ samemptioD, as the
grasp, the ihdiVidual is.Qra1il<11towar{i~einteriogator, .

For walling, a flexible false wall will be cOJiStructed.The.individual lsplaced with his
Mds tOii~htri~-the-waU:Th~tnU!rt~fur puUsthe .indivrouElfurwardMd:then-qtrick1y'and
fumly pushes the indivi<Iualinto the walL It is the individual's shoulder blades that hit the \valL
D udl1g this motion, the head and ne.ckare supported with a rolled hood or towel that provides a
c-collar effect to help prevent whiplash. To further reduce the probability of injury, the
individual i.sallowed to rebound ITomthe flexible wall. You have oralJyinformed us that the
false wall is in part constructed to create a loud sound Whl:Dtile individumhits it, which will
further shockor surpriseinthe individual..Tnpart,th.eideais to crea.tea soundthat willmakethe
impact seem far worse than it is and that will be far worse than any injurythat Dlightresult from
the action.

The facial hold is used to hold the bead immQbile. One apenpaInl w.pla.i;ed.on,eitl1er
side oftl1c~iIi.<iividual's face.. The fmgertips are kept weB away from the in.divi~uaFseyes.

With the facial slap or insult slap, the interrogato-rslapsthe indi"idual's face \'.1thfingers
slightly spread. The hand makes contact with the area directly between the tip of the individual's
chin and the ool1ornof the corresponding earlobe. The interrogator invades the individual's
personal space. The goal of the facial slap is not to inflict physical pain that is severe or lasting.
Instead, the purpose of the facial slap is to induce shock, surprise, andl<irhumiliaiidn.

CI:amped confinement involves the pl~m~Dt of the individual in a confined space, the
dimensiQns ofwhitb restriCtthe indiVidual's movement. The e.onfine.dspac~ is usually~rk.

TO~T .

2



~,

~"""1.

TO~illir
The duration of confinement varies based upQrt the sw;{)f the c~ntainer. For the rargeic0nfmed

space, the individual can stand up or sit down~ the smaller space is large enougfJ.for tli'osubje{:t to.
sit down. Confthement in the larger space can last UP.. to e~~tee~ hours~for the smali'erspace,
confin~ment lasts for no more than two hours.

Wall standing is used to induce muscle futigue. The individual stands about four fO.five
feet IToma wall, with his feet spread approximatelyto shoulder v.idth.His anus are stretched
out in ftont of him, with his fingers resting on'the waIl. His frngers support all Qfhis body
weight. The individual is not permitted tamove or reposition his hands tlr feel.

A Val1etyof streSs positions may be used. You have i.tiformedus lhatthese posith;msare
not designed to produce the pain associated with contortions or twisting ofthebGd};. Rather,
somewhai like walling, they are designed to produce the physical discOmfortassociated with
muscle fatigue. Two particular stress positions are likely to be used.on Zubirydah: (I)'sitting on
lli~floor with legs eXtended straight out in front ofbim withhis armSraised above hi-sb.ead;and

.(1) kneeling on the floor While leaning back at a.45 degree angle. You have also orally infonnea
USthat through observing Zubaydah in captivity, you have noted that he appears to be quite
flexible despite his woun.d.

Sleep deprivatj.on ma.y be used. You ha.vdndicated that your purpose in using this
technique is to redu~e the individu.a]'s ability to think on .hisfeet and. through th5 di'sc(jmfurt
~~m~mtell with fucl.c'of~p;.tomoti'Vafu-bim-WWQP~te; The'efreci'bf-st1cl1-sI~-ep'depri'Vatien' . .. .- '" .
\"'ill generally remit ~er one or two rnghts'ofunintemJpted sleep. You h.ave-infQtin~ 1.i):,that
your research has revealed that. in ran~ instan.ces, saDie individuals who arealrea11l:yp'redis-posed
tQpsychologiCal prob[eIns may experience abnonnal reaction,s to sle.ep d~privation. EVell in.
those eases, however, reactions abate after the individual is permitted to.sl~p. Mor~vef.
personnd with medical tra.i.nin,gare available. to arid wiIi intervene in the:UJilikely event of an

abnorna:ql r~actio1i y au ,hav~ qrally infOlil1ed,us th!J~you would !lOt deprive Zubi'\.ydahof sleep
~or nior~ than. eleven daysa~ a tim.e an~ tltat you have previously keDthim. aWake fOE72 nburs,

lrom which no mental or physical harm resulted:

Yau WQuldlike to place Zubayd.ahin a cramped confinement box with.an insect. You
ha.ve infoIDled us that he appear~to have a fear of insects. In particular. you wOl)ldlike to tell
Zubaydah tliat you intend to place a stinging insect into the box wi.thhim. You would, however,
place a hannIes8 in.~e.ctin the box. You have orally infomled us that YOUwould in fact pl~ce a

. sectsuch as a catemiHar in the box.with.lllm..

Pinally, you would i!ke to use a t~bnigue Caled the "wat.ttUoaid." Lt}thi~pracedur~ the
individual. is bou11,dsecurely liJml hic1ille:dbench, which is approximatoly four feet by,seven feet.
The individual's feet are generally ele.vated. A cloth isplaced over the forehead and ~y~. Water
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is then applied to the cloth in a controlled manner. As this is done, the cloth is lowered until it
covers both the nose and mouth. Once the cloth is saturatedand completely covers the mouth

and nose, air fl-ow is slightly restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the presence of the cloth. This
. causes an increase ill carbon dioxid!; level in the individual's blood:. This increase in the carbon
dioxide l~el £timuIatesincreasro effort to b~the. This effort plus the cloth pi~d1i~ $e

perception Gf"suffoca.tion and incipient panic:' i.~"the perceptianor dtowrJttg. Th~lndiyidual
does nQt breathe any water imo his lungs. Duri.b.gUtoSe20 to 40 se9Ot1ds,water istontm'Q(j~ly
applied from <lheight of twelve to twenty~fouf inthe$, After tbis.period. th~ doth T$Hfte4, and
the individual. is allowed. to breathe unimpeded for three Qr foudilJ] breaths. '.fhe sensanon.of
drowning is immediately rdiev.edby the r~moval of the doth. .The-prowiure may1hci1 be.
repeated. The water is usually applied from a canteen cup or small \"at~ring C<l1lWith a spout.
You have orally informed us that this procedure triggers an automati<;,physiological sensation of
drov'l11ing that the individual cannot control even though he may be aware that he i~ in fact not
dro\'ming, You have also orally informed us that it is likely that this procedure wouid not last
more than 2D minutes in anyone application.

We also understand that a medical expert with SERE experien~ will be present
throughout this phase and that the procedUreswtll bestoppedif deemed medically necessary to
prevent severe mental or physical harm to Zubaydah. As mentioned above, Ztiliayc;iahsuffered
an injury during his capture, You have-informed us that steps will be taken to ensare that this
injury is not in any way exacerbated by the use of these m~thodsand thai adequate medical
atI:e1iriOll\.'Jillbe given to CrlSurethat it 'Willheal properly..

II.

In this part, we teviewtbe context v.ithiri whichthese proceaures will he applied. You
hav~ informed us that you have taken various steps to ascertain wlwt effeCt,if any, these
techniques would have on Zubaydah's mental health. These same tecbnique~,with the exception
of the insect in the,cramped confined.space, have been USedand continue to be USMon some
members of our military personnel during th.eirSEREtraining. Because of the U$~ofthese.
procedures in training cur own military personnel to resist interrogatiQns,YQIJhave consulted
with various individuals whoMve ex'tensive'experiencein the use ofthese techniques. Yau have
dQrle.so in orner to ensure that no prolonged m~!1ta1harm would result from the use of these
proposed procedures .

Through your consultation with various individuals responsible for SUC)lttaining, you

have learned that these tedmiqu~s bave be.-'" '."'<:.'." ..:".,.1.'.', ,.If.; ." "~ ,',~ . conduct \vithout any
. .. '. 'entoforolongedroentalhami.,.' "'/ ",>"",;':.fth.e SERE school,

;,"',' 'O.ias. 'rep...Ort." 'I . Ui:.t, duringthe seven~
year period that he spent in those po.Si.tiOrts,there wer.e two reques(s ITom Congress for
information concerning alleged injuries resulting from the training. On~ of thes~ inquiries was
prompted by the temporary physical injury a trainee sustained as result of being placed in a

rytc'RET
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ten'Ye3.rs)wb.f2.ras he is i'M, b.ci1e'ottheliidiVrou8.1.s'whdtojhp~eted theprogtarn:suffered i)J.y
adv~r$e Il1.ell.talh6iltheffects. H~ lrifo1Ji1edyoufuat t.h.Brewas -onepersQ!1whp 4idtiQt complete
the training. Tbat p~rso[l expenenc.e.d an adverse mental health feadioIl mat lasted. olllytwo
hours. .After those two hours, the individual's symptoms spontaneously. dissipated withOut
requiring treatment or coun.seling and no other symptoms Were ever reported by tl1.isindividual.
Accordillg to the information you have provided to us, this assessment of the use ofthese
procedures- includes the tlse or the waterboard.

i:;.omthe-;o.hich'YQu:snppli&fto\15.'

has expenencewiththe use of all'ot these proceduresli1.a cour$~of conduct, with the'~~eption
of the insect in the confmement box and the waterboard. This memorandill11confirms that the
use of these procedures has no! resu\ted.in any reported instances of prolonged mental Mrrrl, and

" ~ Xiw,.,'.n.t.,an..ces of immediate and temporary adverse psychological responses to the traif1jllg.
.'.'.'. ',' ...,','.. . 'eported that a small minority of students have had temponuy adverse
psychokJgiciiI rea.ctionsduring training. Offue26,829 stUdentstrained from 1992 through 2001
in tIle Air Force SERE training, 4,3 percent of those students 4a4 contact with psycilology
services. Of those 4.3 perCent,orily 3.2 percent wetepulle:d tTomth.epIo:gramfor psychological
reasons, Thus, out of the students traihed'OV&al~ol'ilYO.l4

11f!E~ .' . ,wet~. u1I.d1 trQJ:j;tme

progr'arn:for psych.ological reasons. FUrtherl11ore,althPug4 "dicated thatsurveys
of students having oompl*,d thiS:training are ilOtdone,he;~x~ts;d ooriiden~ 'that the training
did not causeaIly'long-term psyChblogicalimpact. He basedhls conclusion dn the debriding of
students that is done after the training. More importantly,he based this assessment on the fact
that although training is required to be extremely stressful in order to be effeCtive,very few
complaints have beeh made regarding the training. During hi~tenure, in which 10,000 students
were trained, no congressional complaints have been made. \Vhilt there "''as'one Inspebtor
General complaint, it \Va$not due to psychological concerns. Moreover, h~ was av..7ir~of only
one letter inquiring about the long':tenn impact of these techniquesfrom ap individual trained

TO~RET .
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cOlmnemehtbox. The otherinquir.{invotvedclaimsthatt!,leSEREtraining caused two
individ.uals to engage in criminal behavior, MiDely,fclqnyshoplifting atld down1oailill~ thUd

porno~aplw onto a niiIjtary.co~puter. Acco~dii1gtQthis official,t4eSeclaims weref~.
~oreover, he bas mdlcated that dunng the three and a half yearshespeI1t.~
~fche S'EREprogram, he trained 10,000students. Ofthase.stud:elits,olily tWo
dropped out of the training following tbe lJSeof thest techniques. Although an rareoccasions
same students temporarily postponed the remainder of their trainingand receivM psychological
counseling, those sllldenrs were able to finish the program withoutany indication of subsequent
memal health effects,
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o:,er1~~oty~ound. that it wasimpossibleto anribmethisindivid~al'ssymptomsto
his trammg.~ncluded thatif thereareanylong-termpsychologicaleffectsof the
United States Air Force trairiing using the procedures outlined above they "are certainly.
minimal." .

Wit4 resp~t tq tIle \vaierboard. you have also orally informed tis that; the, Na'\<ycoiltinU!=S
to use it in training. You haveinformed us that ypuron-site psychologi$ts, who have extensive
experience. with the use. of the \vaterboard in Navy training, ha\.renot eticOuri~~ any significil~t
long-term inental heald1consequences trom its use. Your on-site-psychologi.:,1:shave aHa
indicated .that JPRA has likewise not reported 'any significant long:-~nn mental heaHh .
consequences from the w;e of the \vaterboard. Yo~ have informed us thatQther-servtcesceas~d
use or the waterboard because it was so successf1J1as an interrogation technique, but not because

of an}' concerns over auyhann, physical ormen.ta~.caused by it. It wasalS_. ... ,,' .

almos.t 100 perc~nt effective in producing cooperation among the trainees. Iso
indicated that he had obseTvedthe use of the \\ratetooardin Na,;-ytrainfugsome teti:o ..,ve
times. Each time h resulted in cooperation but it did not result in any ph.ysicalhamta the
student..

Yau have also r~viewedthe relevant literature and found no empiriCal data on the effect
oftb.ese techniques, with the exception'Qfsl~p deprivation- \1ilJ.threspect to sleep depriv.ati.on,
you have infoITl1edus that is not uncommon for someone to be deprived of sleep for 72 hours a...l1d
stin petfonn excdkntly on vi.gool-spatiaImm:on,asksand shQrt-tennmemory te~ts. Although
some individuals may experience hallucinations, accordillgto the literature you surve.yed,those
who experience such psychotic symptoms hav~ almost alwayshad such episodes priQr to tile
sle.epdeprivatiQn. You have indicated the studies i:Jflengthysleep depri'vathmshOw~dn.o
psychosis, loosening ofthough.tS,flattening aferi1otiops,deluswDS,or paranoid id.~~. In ot1e
case, even after eleven daySof depriv~tion,no I1sychosisor'pennaqent brain d;Una$edoccurred.
In fact th~ indivldual reported feeling almost,back to normal;tfter o!]enight's sleep. F~t::i:.
based on the eKpepences with.its use in military triiUllng(\\llere it is induced Jor ilpto 48 hours),
)'ou foul,id1:i1atrarely, if ewr, '.villthe individual suffer harm after the sleep deprivationis
diseonrinued. Instead, the effects remit after a few good nights of sleep,

You have ta..1.:enthe additional step of consulting with U.S. interrogations experts, and
other individuals with oversight over the SERE. training process. None of these individuals was

aware of a.\1Yprolonged psychological effect caused by the nseof any of the above technitlues
either separately or as a course of conduct. Moreo\'er, youconsu!tedwithoutside psychologisIS
who reported that theY\.\'ere unawareofarlY cases where long-term problems have OCCLL1Teci(C)a
result of these techniques.

Moreover, in consulting with a numher of mental health experts, you have learned that
the e.ffect of any of these procedures \vill be dependant on the individual '3 personal history,
cultural history and psycbo[ogi<::RIt'~nd~t1de.~.To that tnd, )'QUfu;.veinformed us that you have

. TO~T
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completed a psychological assessment of Zubadyah. This assessmem i.sbased on.interviews with
Zubaydah., observations oHim, and informatioll collected trom other sources such as intelligence

and press reports. Our undersranding of Zubaydah's psychological profile, which We set forth
below, is based on that asses$rt1~n1.

According to this aSsessment,.zubayd:ili,though only 31, rose quickjy from very low
Jevel rnujahedin to third or fourth man in al Qaec;la.He has served as Usama BiD,Laden's sePior
lieutenant. In that capacity, he bas managed a uetwdrkPItraining camps. He has been
instrumental in the training of operatives for al Qaedu,th~ Egyptian Islarnic limd, irrldothe.r

. terrorist eLemen:tsimide Pakistan a.'1dAfghanistan. He acted as the D~puty Camp Commander-
for a1Qaeda training camp in .o\fgb<inist~,personally approving entry and gradlli1tionof an
trainees during 1999-2000. From 1996until 1999,he approved aUi.n.dividual$going in.and out
of Afghanistan to the training Cfu"11pS.Further. no one went in and out of Pesbawar, Pakistan
wiihout his ~owledgeand approval.. He also actedas at Qaeda's coordinator.of externaJ
contacts ~nd foreign communicatiot1S.Additionally, he has acted as 2.1Qaeda's counter-
intelligenceofficerandhasb~n trustedto findspieswithiritheO1:g-anization.

Zu1;>aydahhas been involved in evety ma:jortertoristopera.uoTI carried out by ai QaelliL

He was a planner for the Millennium pIotto attack U,S. and Israeli targets during the MiIl~nrriurn
celebratkms in Jordan. Two of the central figures in ibis plot who were a..ttested h<iveideJ:Jti.fi~d
Zubaydah as the supporter of their cell and the plot. He also served as a p!;3.11I1erfor thePari.s
Embassy plot 'in 2001. Moreover, he was one of the planners of the Seprember 11 atl:4cks, PriQr
to his capture, he was engaged in plan.'1ing future tertorist attacks against U.S. interests.

Your psychological assessment indicates. that it is believed Zubaydah wrote al Qaeda's
. manual 011re.sistance techniques. You also believe that his experiences in al Qaeda make him
well-<!-cquainted with an.dv.'eU-versea in such techniques. As part ofhisrote: in a1Qaeda,
Zubayd.a,h visited individual£in prison and help~d them ~pon their rel@se. Tbrcmgh t1ii$.Cbht::rct

and a~'\1ities with oiliet al Qaeda mujahedm, you believe that he knows IlliU1Ystori~ tffcap.ture,
interrogation, and resistance to such inte11'Qgatiol1:Additioruilly,be' has spok~n \.VithAYffiQJial-
Zawahiri, and you believe it is likely that the two 4iscu$sedZawahiri ~s experiences as.a.prisoner
of the Russians find the Egyptians.

Zubaydah stated duriog interviews that he thinks of any activLr)'outside of jihad as

"silly." He has indicated that Ws heart and mind are devoted to serving Allah. and lslal1i through
. jihad and he has stated that he has no doubts or regrets about commiuing himself to jihad.

Zubaydah b~Heves that the global victory ofIslam i~ inevitable. YmJ ha.ve irtfom1ed 1Mthat he
cOhtinues to express his unabated desire to kill AmeriCans and Jt\l.'s.

¥'Our psychological assessinent describes his personality a$ foHows. He is "a highly seJ.f-
. dir-ected individual who priies his independence." He has "narcissistic features," whiCh are

evidenced in the attention he pays to his personal appearan~e an.dhis "obvio1.lS 'effortS' to

TO~R£T
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d~lnotl5trate that he is really itrather:humble,3.l1dregular guy.'" H~ is "somewhatconJpulsive"
in how he organizes his environmenl and business. Be is confident. self-assured, and.pos~~sse'S
an air of authority. While he.admits to at t1meswreStlingwith how to de.terminewho is an
"innocent," he has acknowledged ce.iebratingthe destruction of the World Trade Center. He is
intelligent and inteJlectually curious. Hedisplays"excelJentself-discipline."Theassessment
describes him as a perfectionist, pErSistent,private, and highly capable in his ~ocialinteractions,
He is very guarded about opening up 10others and your assessment repeatedly emphasizes that
he tends not to trust others easily. He is also «quickto recognize apd assess the moods and
mati vatious of others." PUrth~lO~, he is ptoud oHus IJ-biIi:tyto lie and deceive others
succc$sfuUy- Thrbtrg!:Lhis deception he has; among other thing$, prevented the lo.catiOllor al
Qi:eda.safehouses and even acquired'a United Na110nsrefugee;identifica\ion card.

. ACCbrdittg to )'O\.1tt~poris, Zubaydah does not haveany'pr~-exist4.lg mental qari4itloTis or
problemstbat would make him likely to sUfferprolongedmen~l harm Hom yourproposoo
imermga1.ionmethbds. Through reading bis diaries and interviewing him, you have found nO
hisrory of "mood disturbance or otber pS:j'chialric pathology[,]" "thought disorder[,]. . . endun!lg
!1'Wodor mental health problems." He is in fact "re'qJarkably resilient and confident thai he C<J.n
overcome adversity." When h~ encounters SiTesSor low mood, this appears to last olllyfor a
short time. He deals with stress by assessing its source, eva.lua.ting the coping resources availahle
to him, and then taking action. Your assessment notes that he is "generally s~lf~sufficient and
relies on. his ulldersrnnding an.dapplication of religious and psychological principles, mteliigeD.ce
and discipline to avoid and overoomepr-oble,ms." Mereover, you have-f<nmrl-tl1athe has a
<trdiabl~ arid durable support system" In his fajthj "the blessings of religious leaders, and
carnaJ.'aderie. oflike-mil1d~ mujahcdin brothers." During detenuon, ,Zubaydah has m~e.d his

mood, remaining at most points "circumspect~ ca.lm, cont!olled,aJid deliberate." He has
maintained this demeanor during aggressive intettogations and reductions in sleep. You describe
that in a.,T'J.initial confrontational incident, Zubaydah show~d signs of sympathetic nervous system
arousal., which you think was possibly fear. Although this incident led him to disclose
iDte!ligence infoffi1ation. he was able to quickly regain his composure, his air of confidence, and
his "strong resolve" not to reveal any infonna1ion.

Overall, you swnmarizehis primary strengths as the following: abililyto fot.ms,goa.l-
dirl;:1,;tt:uJisdpli.lle, [l1.tem!!:~nco;emotional rcsiliutlCC,5tr~t savvy, ability to organize and
manage people, keen observation skills, fJ,uidadaptabiJity(can anticipate and adapt under duress
;iild with minimal resources), cap~city to assess and exploit the needs of othets,and abiUty to
adjust goals to emerging opponooities.

You anticipate tl12the will draw upon his vast knowledge of interrogation techniques to
cope with the inteITogation.. Your assessment indicates th;it Zubaydah may be willing to die Ie
protect the most important information that he holds. Nonetheless, you are of the view that his
belief that Islam will ultimately dominate d1eworld and that this victory is inevitable may
provid~ the chance that Zubaydab will VV~infQrmationand rationalize:it s~lely asat~mp'orary
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setback. Additionally, you believ~ he may be willing to disclose. some information, pa..t1.icularly
information he deems to not be critical, but which may ultimately be useful to us when pieced

togetber with other imelligcl1ce infonnation you have gained.

m.

. Section 2340A ma.kesit a trinnnat offenS~tOranyper~n "outside of the Ui1lt~'StateS
[10] cqmri.1itO or attempt(] to commit torture." Sectkm 2340(1) defme;s tortUre a3:

a11actcommirted by a personacting under the color orIaw specifically intended to
iJ1l1iclsevere physical or mental pain or suffltrlng(ofh~rthan paifl or suffering
incidental to lavJfulsanctions)upon another perSoHwithin his custody of physical
comro!.

1&D.S.C. § 2340(1). As we outlined in our opinion on standards of conduct under Settion
2340A, a violation of2340A requires a showing that: (1) the torture occUlTedoutside the United
States; (2) the defendant acted under the color of law; (3) the victim was within the defendant's
custody or control; (4) the defendant specifically intend~dto inflict s«vere pain or suffering; and
(5) that the acted inflicled severe pain or suffering. See Mernorandumfor John Rizzo, Acting
General Counsel for the Central Intelligence Ag~ncy,from Jay S. Bybee, Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, Re:Standards afConductfor Interrogation under [8 U.S,c.
§§ 2340~234fJA at 3 (Augu:3t1, 2.002)("Section 2340A Memorandum''). Yau hav~ asked.1.15to
assume that Zubayadah is being hdd outside the United Stales, Zubc.yad.ahis within U.S. .
custody; and the intelTogato!sare acting under the color of law. At issue is whether the last tW{)
e1ements would be met by the use of the proposed procedures,namely, whether those using theE~
procedures would have the requishemenal state andwhet.~erthese proced1.lres\>.rtJUIdinflict.
sever~ paio or suffering within the meanin¥ Qftl~ statute.

Severe Pa;:niJr Stmerimr. In GIrderfDrpaii10r sufferingto rise to the level :oftortute, th~
statute requir~s that ~tbe severe. As we haveprevlQusly explained, this reaches only ~xtre:me
acts. S!!e id. at 13. Nonetheless, drhwingupon cases under the Toct:ureVictiniProtect!on Act
(TVP A), which has a d~finition oftort\1re that is similar to.Section 2340"s d~fini'tion,we found
that a single event of sufficiently intense pain may fall within this prohibition. See id. at 26. As
a result, Wehave analyzed each of these techniques separately. In further drawiitg upon these
cases, we also.have found that courts tend to take a totality--of-the-circumstam:esapproach and
consider au entire course of conduct to determine whether torrurehas occurred, See id at 27.
TIlerefore, in addition to considering each technique separately,we COD.siderthernfogether as a
course of conduct.

Section 2340 defines torture as the infliction of severe physical or mental paiDor
suffering. We will conside.rphysical pain andmcmal pain sepa.rately. See 18U.S.C. § 2340(1).
With res~t to physical pain, ,...repreviously concluded that "severe pairC v,~thinthe meaning or

TO~RET
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Sectiou 2340 is p11inthar is difficuil for the individual to endure and is of an intensity gkin to the
pai.n accompanying serious physical injury. Se.eSection 1340A Memorandtlltl at 6. Drawing

upon the'TV? A precedent, we have i10iedthat examptes of acts inflicting severe .painthat typify
torture are, among other things, severe beatings with weaponssuch as cJubs, and rhe buming of
prisoners. See id. at 24. \Ve conclude below that none of the proposed teduuques inflicts such
pain.

The fae.ial hold al1d the ait~ntion grasp involve no physical pain. In rhe absence of such
pain it is obvious that they cannot be' said. to fnflict severe pbysical pain or suft-~ring. The stress
positiqns and wall standing both may result in mu:scle fatigue. Each involves the sustain~d
holding of a position. In wall standing, It will be holding a.position in which all of the .

individual's body weight is placed on his finger tips. The stress positions WiULikelyil}ylude
'sitting on the floor \-vithlegs extended straigQ.t out in front and arms raised aQove the head, and
kneeling on the: floor and leaning back at a 45 degree angle. Ari.ypain associated \Vilh muscle
fatigue is not of the intensity sufficient tGaIDoi,Intto "severe. physical pa.in or sl.!if~ting" ~der the
statute, nor, despite its discomfort, can it be said to be diffh:ult toenau.re. Moreover, you have
orally informed us thai llOstress positkm will. be used that could interfere with the healing 'Of
Zubaydah's wound. Theref-ore, we conclude that these techniques involve disCOl11fortthat ralls
far below the threshold of seVere physical pain.

Sirn.ilar.ly,although the con:finen~nt boxes (both smaILand large) are.physically
Ui1d3nlfortable'b~'U5~ th~i.tsjzer~itts movement, they are notso smail as to require the.
individual to contort his body to sit (small box) or stand.(large box.). You.have also orally
informed us that despite his wound, Zubaydah remainsquit~ flexible, which wouldsubstantiaUy
reduce any pain associated with being placed in the box. We have no information f,romtbe
medical experts you have consulted that the limited duration for which the individual is kept ill
the boxes causes any :mbstantial physical pain. As a result, we do not think the use of these
boxes can be said to cause.pain that is ofthe intensity associa(~dwith serious physical injury.

The use. of one of these boxes \.vith the introduction. of an insect does not alter this

assessment. As we understand it, no ~ctually harmful insect \viLlbe placed in the box. Thus,
tl;l.Oughth.e introduction of aninsec.t rnay produc~ 1repidaHon in Zubaydih. (\\il1ich we. discUss
belo~), it ~ertainly ilot::sHot t.:<iuse:physical' pUln.

As for sleep deprivation.,it is clear that deprivingsomeone of sleep does not involve
severe physicat pain within the meaning of the statute. ¥lhile steep deprivation may involve
some physical discomfort, such as the fatigue ot the discomfort experiencOOin the difficulty of
keeping one's eyes open, these effects remit after the individUalis permitted ({)sleep. Based on
the.tacts you h<iveprovide.dus, we ar~ no! aW31'eof any evidence'that sleep depnvation results in
severe physical pain or suffering. As a r~lt, its use.does not violate Section 2340A.

,~.

Even thO$t techniques (har uwohrepilysical contilct between tl1~interrogator and th~
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individual do not result in severe pain. The facial slap and wallingcOllt£inprecautions to ensure
that no pain even approaching this level results. The slap is ddivered with frngers slightly
spread,whichyouhaveexplainedto us is designedto belesspainfulthana dosed-handslap. .

The slap is alsodeliveredto thefleShypartof theface,furtherreducinganyrisk ofphysical.
damage or serious pain. The facial slap ..toesnot produce pain that is diffi<:tiltto endlire.
Likewi!;e~walling invol~ quickly pulling the personforivar~an!ithen thrusting him against a
flexibk f.alsewall. You have in:forme.d.ustha.ttI1esound ofhitting thewaH ,,@ :J:ct4alttbe"far -
worse than any possible injury to the.inc\ividua,l.The U$~of the rollw towel around the neck also

. reduces any risk of injury. While.it :mayhurt to be ptiBhedagainst t11c\v.alI:,any'pain.exp~riencoo
is not of the intensify associated \"ith S'erious.physical injury.

As we understand it, \\rhenthe waterboard is used, the subject's body responds as if the
subject were dro\vning-even though the subject may be well aware that he is in fact not
drowning. You have 1nfom1edus that this prdcedi.1r~does not inflict actual physical harm.. Thus,
although the subject may ehl'erie~ce the fear or panic associatedwith the feeling of drow'nillg,
th~ waterboard does not inflict physical pain. A5we ex.pWnedin the SecrioQ2340A
Memorandum. "pain an.dsUff~ring:>as used in B~ctidn2340 is best understood as a.smgte:
concept. not distinct concepts of"paio" ~s distingUishedfrom "Stdfering.t. See Section 2340A
Memorandum at 6 n.3. The waterboard: which inflictsno pain or actual harm:whatsoever, do<!s
11.0t:in our view inflict "severe pain or suffering." Even if one were to parse the sta,tu~e:more
fi..'1elyto attempt to treai "suffering" as a distinct concept, the waterboard could not be said to
inflict severe suffering. The watel'boaro is.simply a controlled acute e.'pi5od.e,lacking the
connotation of a protracted period of time generallygiven to sufferlng.

Finally, as we discussed above, you have infom1edus lhat in determining which
procedures to use and how you wiU use them; youhave selectedtechniques that will not ham1
Zubaydah's wound. You have.also indicated tl1atnumerous steps will be taken to enSure ihar
n.oneofthese procedures in any wa.yinierfefe~ with the pI'Qperheating of ZUtJ~ydaJ.1's wound.
YOlll:ta.vealso indicated that, should it <ippearat any time that.Zuba)~ is experiencing severe
pain or sufferirtg, the medical personnel. .onhand will ~op rb~use-xif'anyteehz:iique.

EVelt wilen a11of these metltods are considered combined ih an overall coUrseofcoDdu.ct,

they still wQuldnot inflict seVere physical pain or suffering. As discussed above, a nutnb~r or
these ac.e:;result in no phYEical pain,other5 prc.wll1cconly ph)'sical d.isC()mfort. . You have
indicated tbat these acts ,:viI!not be used with substantialrepetition, sa thai there is no possibility
that severe physical pain could arise frDmsuch repetition.. Accordingly, we conclude that thes~
acts neither separate1.ynor as part of a course of conduct would infliCtse.ve.rephysical pain or
suffering within the meaning or the statute.

~

We next consider whether t\le use of thesetechnjques would inflict severe memal pain or
suffering within the meaning of Section 2340. Se.ction 234{) de.fmes sev~re mental pain or
suffering as "the prolonged mental harm causoo by or resuiting !.Tom" OJ1Gof sevetol predicate
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aCtS. 18 U.S. C. § 2340(2). nose predicate acts are: (I) the iniemiona!infliction or threatened
infliction of severe physicaJ pain or suffering; (2) the administration or application, or threatened
administration or application of mind-altering substances or other procedurescalc.ulatedto
disrupt profoundly the sen$esor the personality; (3) the threat of imfl.linenldeath~or (4) the threat
that any of the preceding acts will be:done to another person. See Is U:S_C.§ 2340(2)(A.)-{P).

. As we have explained, this list of predicat~ acts is exclusive. See Section 2340A Memotamlum:
at 8. No other acts can support 11charge under Section 2340A 1J.asedon rhe infliction of severe
men:alpain or s.ufferlr.g.See id. Thus, if themethodsthat youhavedescribeddo O:oteither in
and of themselves constitute one of these acts or as a course of conduct fulfill the predicare act
re.quiremellt, the prohibitioll has n.otbeen violated. See fa. Beior,; addressing these-t~c!tniqucs,
\.lIenote thai, it is plain that none of these proceduresinvolves a threat to any third party, the .use'
or any kind of drugs, or for tht reasons described above, the infliction of severe physical pain.
Thus, the question is whether any Qfthese ~(;t$,separately or as a course of conduct, constitUtes a
threat of severe physical pain or suffering; a procedure designed to dismpt profoundly t4e sen~s,
or a threat of imminent death. As '\J;,-epreviouslye~plained, whether an action 'Cbnstitutesa threat
must be assessed nom the standpoint of areasonfj;~leperson in the subject's position. $e:~ia: at"
':i.

No argument can be made that the attention grasp or ~ f-adalhold constiiute threats of
imminent death or are procedures designed to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality. In
general the grasp and the facia! hold win startle the subject, produce f~, or even insult him. A.s
you hav~ i1uortned us, the.llSe.of t:h.ese.teclmiquesis.not a<:coDlpaniooby a.specific vetb;l!,.threa.t
of s~vere physical pain or suffering> To the exrentthat Uu~set~hniques could be considered a
threat of severe physical pain or suffering, such a threat \vould have.to be inferred from the acts
th~m$elves, BeCause these;actions th~mselves involve no pain, neither could be interpreted by a
reasonable person in Zubaydah's position to constitute a threat of severe pail1or suffering.
Accordingly, these t<.votechniques are not predicate acts within the 'meardngof Section 2340.

The facial slap Jike\vise.falls outside the set of predicate acts. It.plainly i$ not a threat of
imrninent death, under Section.2340(2)(C), or a procedure designed to disrupt profoundly the
senses orpersonaliry, under Section 2340(2)(B). Though it may hurt, as discussed above; the
effect is one.of smartingor stingingaridsurpriseor humiliation,bmnotseverepain. Nor does it
alone constitute a threat of severe pain Ofsuffering, \U1derS~ctiQn2340(2)(A). Lik~ th~ facial
hold and the attention grasp, the use of this slap is not accompanied by a specific verbal threat of
further escalating violence. Additionally, you have infonne.dus that in one use this teclU1iqu(;

- wi11tyPically involve at most tWOslaps. Certainly, the use of this slap may dislodge any
expectation that Zubaydah had thai he would not be touched in a physicallyaggressive manner. .
Nonetheless, this alteration in his expectations could hardly be construed by a :rea$onableperson
in his situation to be tantamount to a threat ofs~vere physical pain or suir~ring. Atmost, tillS
t~cJ.mjquesuggests that the circumstanc-esofhis confinement and interrogation have Ghan.ged.
Therefore, the fadalslap is not within the st8tu~' s exclusive list of predicate aets.
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Walling plainly is not a procedure calculatedto disrupl profoundly the senses or

personality. \Vhile walling involves wh.atmight be c.haracierizedas rough handling, it does nOt
involve the threat of imminent death or, as discussedabovt, the uillictiol1of severe physical pain.
Moreover, once again we.understand that use of this tecluiiquewiUno(be accompanied by any
spe.cific verbal threat that violence wi]1.e.nsue'absenrcooperation. Thus, like.the fa~ial slap,
walling can OJtlyconStitutea threat of sev-ere.phYsicalpain if a reasomibleperson would in(er
such a thr~t tI(jm the use of the technique itself. Wailing does not in and of.itselfi!i£'1icts~vere
pain or suffering. Like the facial slap, walling mayalter ~ si1bj!Xt's.e)..~t!3iionas.to the
treatment he believes he will -receivc- No~etheless,the character of the action farls so far short of
inflicting severe pain or suffering withind1e meaningof the sts:tllt~matcveIi if he inferred.that
greater aggressiveness was to fOllow,th~ type of acti0l1Sthat could be re:asonably~ antidpated
would still falLbelow anythingsufficient to inflict severe'physical pain or suffering under the
statute. Thus, we conclude that.this teclmique falls outsid~the proscribed predicate acts.

. Like walling, stress positions and wall-standingare noi procedures calGularedto disrupt
profoundly the senses, nor are tile)' threats ofim:minem death. These procedures, as discussed
above, involve theuseofmw;de fa.tiwre to 'encourage cooperation and do fLotthemselves
'constitute the infliction of severe physical pain or suffering. Moreover, there is no aspect of
violence to eith.er technique that.remotely suggests future severe pain or suffering from which
such a threat oHuture lumn could be inferred. Th~y.simplyinvolve forcing the.subject to remain
ill uncomfortable positions. \J,.'hiJethese actsmay indicate to the subject tbat he:may be plaCed i.n
ihese positions again if he does not disclose information,the use cfthese ~echniqjJ.~.wouJdn.Qt
suggest to a reasonable person in tM subject's posi,tionthat he is bein.grhreatened with severe
pain or 1>uffering.Accordingly, we c.oncluderbat these tv.'oprocedures do not constitUTeany of
the predicate acts set forth in Section 2340(2).

. As with the other techniques discussed so far, cra.'11pedccnf.nement is not a threat of
.immi.nent death. It may be arg~ed that, fecllSingill part on the ract that th~boxes will be."\.vith?ut
light, placemel1,t in these boxes would constitUte a procedure d.esignedtb disrupt profoundly the
senses. As we explained in our .recent opinion, however,. to L(di..<rruptprof-oundly th~ senses" a.
technique must produce an extreme effect in the subject. Se.e Section 2340A Mi$1Cit3.ndum at
10-12. We have previously concluded that this requires thai the. procedure cause substantial
interference with the indi,,;dual's cognitive a.bilities or fundamentally alter his person.a.lity. See
id. at 11. Moreover, the statute requires that suet! pt'ocedure-smust be calculated to produ~ this
effect. See lei..at 10; 18 U.S.C. § 2340(2)(B).

=

With respect to the small c.QnfiIi~mentbox, YOllhave informed us thai be woula spend at
most two houn; in {hisuox. Yau have informed us thB:1your purpose in using these boxes is 110t
to interfer.ewith his SEm'sesor his personality,buttocausehimphysicaldiscomfortthat will
encourage him to disclose critical infOlmation. Moreover, your imposition ofume limitations on
the use of either of the boxes also indicates that lhe use of these boxes is not designed or
calcul:Hed to disrupt profouIldlythe senses or personality. For the iarger box. in.which he can
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bod1 stand and sit, he may be placed in this box fO.f:UPto ~ghteen h<JUfSat a time, while you have

informed us tha1 b.~will never s,Pend more thqrt an hqur at time in the smaUer b~x. These time
lim.its ~rther enSure that no profqund disruption ef tM ,Sen..."6Sor p~rsonaljty, were it, even
possible, would result. As suc~ the use (i)fthe co'nfihemettt boxes does not tOllStiture a
procedure calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality.

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

. Nor docs the use of the boxes threaten Zubaydah vlirh.severe physical pail! Qr suffering.
W\1ile additional time spout in the boxes may be threatened, their use is [jot accompanied by a.ny
express threats of severe physical pain or suffering. Like the stress positions and walling,
placement in the boxes is physically uncomfartable but any such discomfort does not rise to the
leve] of severe ph.ysicalpain or sufferiD:g. Mcordj~gly, a reasonable person in the subject's
position would not infer trom. the use oftbB technique that severe physical pait1,is th~Ile.Xt stet'
in his interrogatot's lreatment of him. Theiefo~, we couc1udethatthe uSeor the:confinemem
boxes does not fall:v.rithin the statute~s required predicate acts.

In addition to using theeonfinement boxes alone, you also would like to intrqdiice an
insect into one of the box;eswith Zubaydah. As we understand il.,you plan to inform Zubaydah
that you are going to plac~ a stinging insect-intothe box, but you will actually place a harmless
insect in the box, such as a ca:terpill.ai.Ifyau do so, to ensure that you are ol.1tsi~ the predicate
act requirement, you must infonn him that the insects Willnot have a sting that would .produ.ce
death.or severe pain. If, ho,v~ver, you were to place the insect in the box without informing' him
that ye\:1£lre.Mt.hg-sO,then; in Gr<:!~~~.uot-Gotl1Inita pr.edi.cateact, yau.should.not affirm.ati.v..eqr....
lead Q.irpto believe that any insectis'pi'est:rt{wbiab. hf.1S<1-cl-1Mfl,,,,,.-nul ' "L" ..'"

~4cina." ,,_..

'cdtmg.<lS'YOu~~.-ejthet.,o

th.e approaches we have described. Hie insec.t's placement in the box would not constitute a threat
of severe physical pain or suffering to a reasonable person in his position. An individual placed
in a box, even an individual with a fear of insects, would not reasonably f~l. threatened with
severe physical pain Of suffering if a caterpillar was placed. in the box. Further, you have
informed us that you are nol aware that Zubaydah has any allergies to insects, and you have not
informed us of any other factors that would caUSea r-easonable perSOllin that same situaiiontQ

. believe that an un.knuwllinsect would cause him tieve.n:physical pain or death. Thus, we
con.clude that the pl~rnent aftIle. ins~t in the confinement box with Zubaydah would not
constitute a predicate act.

.,~.~

Sleep deprivation -alsoclearly does not involve a.fhreatof imminent death. Aithough it
. produce,s physical discomfort. i1cannot b~said to constitute a threat of severe physjGalpain Of

suffering from the perspective of 11reasonable person in Zubaydah's position. Nor could sleep
deprivatigBCofistitute a procedure calculatedto disrupt profoundly the senses, so long as sleep
deprivation (as you have informed us is your intent) is used for limited pe.riods,before
hallucinations or other profound disruptions of the senses wouJdo~r. To be sure, sleep
deprivation may reduce the.subject's ability to think on his feet Indeed, you indicate that this is'
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the intend:~d result. His mere reduced abilHy tQevade your queStions and r~siqt 8,Mwerjng d~s

not,however,rise to th~levelof i:!lsrtip,tl.OJ:!. r:e<!\.liredby !.heStatut~. As we explained above, a
disruption within the meaning of the statutei:san extreme one, substantially iIiterfering with an
individual's cognitive abilities, for exampk, inducing hallucinatiDns; or driving him Coen.gag'e in
uncharacteristic self-'destructive behavior. See infra i3; Section 1340A Memoranduin. at ! 1-
Therefore, the limited use of skep deprivation doesnot constitute one of the required predicate
3CLS.

We find that the use of the waterboard constitutes a threat of imrn1uent death. As you

have explained the waterboard proce.dure to us, itcteates in the subject the unc<m1;rolla:ble
ph.ysiological sebSation that the su.bjec.tis drowriil1..g..Altbougb. the proced!1re will be monitored
by persorinel with medicall1'a1ning and extenSive SEREsc.hool cxp~Jience with this pro~dure
who v?ill et1s\.1rethe subject's me-nta! and pb.ysical safety, the subject is not aware of my ofthes('}
precautions. From the vantAge point ofany reasonable person tL\1.dergoingthis procedure ill sucl1
circumstances, he would feel as ifhe is drovming at very moment of the procedure due to the

uncontrollable. physiological sensation he is experiencing. Thus, {hj~proce,dure Gantiot be
viewed as too uncertain to satisfy the imminence requirement. AccQ!.'dillgly, it constitutes a
threat of imminent death and fJlfills the predicate act requiremernunder the statute.

Although the \vaterboard constitmes a threatof imminent dea.i4 prolonged mental harm
must nonetheless result to violate the statutory:prohibitionou infliction of severe m~tai pain or
suffering. See S~tion 234QA Memomndum at 7: Wehave previously CQnclud~ .thatprQlonged
mentalharmismentalharmof someJ;as:tingdurntion,a.g;, mepM!hart!)}as;tingmOl1tI1sory~a+s.
See I'd. Prolongeq mental harm is not simply the stress experienced in, fore:.xIDn:ple,.'iU}
interrogation by state police. See id. B>lSedon your researchinto the U5eof these rn~th0dsat the
SERB school and consultation ...Iithothers v"ithex~rrl'se in.the field ofpsychblogyalid
interrogation, you do not anticipate that any prolongedmental harm would result ITomthe use of
the waterhoard. Indeed, you h.aveadvised us thai the relief is almost immediate when the cloth is
removed from the liose and mouth. In the absence ofproJongcd mental harm, L10severe qlental
f1:'!inor ijllffr.rinewould 11;'1\,?-hr,~ninflicted, andthr::~e of these prQcedure.swouldnot c.QU$tjn1tt~
torture within the meaning of th~ statute.

V/hen these acts are considered as a c.Qurseof condu~ 'wearc UI1surewhether these acts

may constitute a threat of seve~ physical pam or suffering. You have indi~ted to us that you
have not determined either the order or the precise timing for implementing the~eprocedilres. It
is conceivable that these procedures could be used in a course of escala{ingconduct, moving
incrementalJy and rapidly ITomleast physicaUyintrusive, e.g., facial hold, to the most physical
contact,e.g., wallingor the waterboard.Asweunderstandit,basedon his treatment~ofar,
Zubaydahhascome1:0expectthatno physicalhamlwjlJbedoneto him. Byusingthese
techniques in increasing inieIlSityand in rapid succession; the goal w01,lldbe to dislodge this
expectation. Based on the facts you have provided to us, we <:annotsay definitively that the
entire course of conduct would cause a reasona.bleperson to'believe that he is being threatened
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with sevcre p3in or suffcring \',;ithin tbe mcaning of section 2340. On the other hand, however,
under certain circumstances-for example, rapid escalation in the use of these techniques
c1JimiTIating in the waterboard (which we acknowledge constitutes a thr~at ofimmincnt death)
accompanied by verbal. or other suggestions that physical \~olence will follow-might cause a
reasonable person'to believe that they arc fac.ed with such athreaL WithDUi Iuote information,
we are uncertain whether the course of conduct would con:stitUt~a predicate <lct under Section

2340(2).

Even if the course of C(J1iductwere thoughtto pose a threat of physical pain or suffering.
it "vQuIdncverthelcss-on the facts before us-not constitute a violation of Sedion 2340A. Not
only must the course of conduct b~ a predicate act, but also those who use th~ procedure must
actually cause proLongedmeatal hann. Based on the infmmationthat you bave provided to us,
indicaing that no evidence existsthat.this course of conduct produces any prolonge.dmental
harm, we conclude that a cou..-seofconduct using these proceduresand culminating in the
waterboard wouLdnot violate Section 2340A.

Specific Io.tertl To violate the statute; an individu~Imust have the specific intent to
inflict severe pain or suffe-ring. Because specific intent iS2ne1ement of the offense,the absence.
or specific intent negaies the charge of torture.. As we previouslyopined, ill have th~ required
specific bi.tent,an individual mus[ expressly intend to cause such severe pain or suffering. See
Section 2340A Memor8...11.dumat 3 citing Carter v. UniTedStares,530 U.S. 255,267 (2000). \Ve
have fl.1rthetfound that if a defendant acts with the gQodfaithbe!ieftlta.this actionswill not
cause such suffering,he has not actedwithspecificintenLSeeid. at 4 citingSouthAIl. Lmtd.
Ptrshp. a/Term. v, Reise,218 F..3d518, 531(4th Gr. 2002.)..A,defendantacts ill goodfaith
whenhe has<tnhonestbelief thathisactionswill ilotresultinseverepainor suffering.Seeid.
citing Cheek v. UYJitedStates, 498 U.S. 192,202 (1991). Almollghan honest beliefl1~'not be
reasonable, such a belief is easiertD establfsh wbere there is a reasonable basi~ fot it 8eeid. at s.
Good faith may be esmblish.edby, among other things; the reHanceon the.advice of experts. See
id. at 8.

Based on the information you have provided us, we belie.ve that those carrying out these
procedures would not have me specific intent to inflict severe physical pain or suffering. The
objective of these techniques is nOt to ca.use severe physical pain. Fir$t, the CDnshmtpresence of
personnel with medicaLtraining who have the authority to stop the interrogation. should it appear
it is ffiedir..<1LIyn~('.essary inciir..?t\~~th::i1it i:; no! yom lalent to CD.llSeS~VerephySicalpain. The
person.neL00 site have ex.tensive experience with these specific tedmiques as they are used in
SERE school training: Second, you have infonned us tha.tyou are taking steps to ensure that
Zubaydah's injury is not worsened or his recoVeryimpeded by the use of these techniques.

Third. as you have described them to us, the proposed technjques involving physical
contact between the inteITogarorand Zubaydah actually contain precautions to pn;:vent~my
serious physical haxm to Zubaydah. In "wailing," a rolled hood or towel wm be used to prevent
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whiplash and he will be permitted t(Jrebound from the fle>..iblewall tQreduce the likelihood of
injury. Similarly, in the "facia! hold:; the fingertips will be kept well a'l;,rayfrom the his eyes to
ensure that there is.no -injuryto them. The purpose of that faciaJh.ol4is uot,injuI'ebJni.but to
hold the h~d imm:obile. Additionally\ while:the s-tressposirionsand wall sta..'1dingwill
undoub~edly result in physical discomfort by tiring the muscles, it is obvious !bat t~es~ positioo's
are nOt il1tel1d~dto produce the kind of extreme pain requiredby the statute.

Furthennore, 110specific intent to cause severc mental pain or suffering appears to be
present. As we explained in our recem opiPion, an individualmust have the specific intent to
cause prolonged mental harm iu order to have the specific intent to inflict severe mental pain or
suffering, See Section 2340A Memorandum at 8. Prolonged mental harm is substantial mental
harm of a sustained q.uration,e.g.) harm lasting months or even years after the acts were inflicted
upon the prisoner. As we indicated above, a go(jdfaith-beliefcan neg~tethis dement.
Accordingly, if ~ individual conduc.t:ingrite intert(jg!!tionhasagood-fuith belieftbat the
procedures he \vHlapply, separately 0rtogether, would 110tre.5\lltinprotongedrnenta:! hann, tMt
individual lacks tHet'~quisitespecifi~ intent This conclusion concemjng_~dfic iptent isfurthet
bolStered b)r the due diligence &~t has been conducted conceliiipg the-effectSof these.
inrerrog-ation procedures;

TIle mental h_ealthexperts thai you have consultedhave indicated that the psychological
impact of a course of conduct must be ass~ssedwith referenceto the subject's psychological
history and cun'eat-mental health statllS. The healthier the individual, the less likely that the use
of anyone procedure or set of procedures asa course qf conduct will result in prolonged mental
harm. A comprehensive psychological profile of Zubaydah has b~el1created. In creating this .
profile, your personnel drew on dUect illterviews, Zubaydah's -diaries,observation of Zubaydah
since his ce,pt1,Jr~,and ;"f-nm1An('\nfrnm f!the-r~\1rr.es shch ;1.<;-othetlntelJige~-3!ld press reports.

/~,"~A

As we jJldicatoo abovl1, you hav~ inf-orm~ llS that ycmr propoSed illtenogatiol\ methods
have been used and continue to _be-used-in SERE training. It is our undersranding thai these
techniques are Dotused one by one in isolation, but as a full course uf conduct to resemble a real
interrogation. Thus, the information de."ivedfrqm SERE training bears both upon the inlpa.ctof
the use ofthe individual t~chnique.sand upon their use as a cours~ of cQnducL You have found
that the use of these methods together or separately, includingthe-use of the waterboard, bas not
resulted in any negativelong-te~ mentalhealthconsequences.Thecontinueduseof these
methods without 111enra1health t:;onsequencesto the trainees indicates that it is highly improbable
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that such consequences would result here. Because you h.aveconducted the due diligence to
. determine that these procedures, either alone or in combination, do not produce prolonged mental

harm, we belie.vethat you de not meet the specific intent requirement necessary to violate
St'crion 2340A.

-,

You have also informed us tbat you have r~viewed the reLevant literat\.fre on the subject.,

and consulted with outside ps:ychologists~ Your review of the liieratur~ unC{)ver.edno empirical
data on the us~ of the.s~procedures, with the. exception of s!:eepdep;:ivatkJt1for v...<hichno long~
term health consequences resulted. Theo4tside psychoJogistswith whom you consulted
indicated were unaware-of any c.ises where long-term problems haveoccurred asa r~sutt oft~ese
techniqueS. .

As described above, it appears you bave conducted an extensive inquiry to ascertain what
impact, if any, these procedures individually and as a:course of tonduct would have on
Zubaydah. You have consulted with interrogation exp~rts, including thos~ with substantial

SERE $<::11001experience, consu1ted with outside psyc.hologists, comple~ed a psychological
assessment and reviewed the. rel.evant literature on this topic. Based on this itlquUy, you belie.ve
Llut the use of the procedures, induding the waterboard, and as a CO\.lrsc,of conduct would not
result in pro!:onged menta! hann. Reliance ou this information abOD!Zubaydah and about the

'effect of the use of these techniques mote geuerally d.emonstrates the presence of a gDod faith
beiie[ that no prolonged mental harm will result from using these methods in the interrogation of
Zubaydah. Moreover, we think that this represents not only 311honest belief but also a
reas-onable belief based on the information-that you have supplied to us. Thus, w~ believe: tbat

the specific i.ntent to inflict prolonged mental is Dot present, and consequently, there is. no
sp'ecific intent to infiict Sev~e mentai pain or suffering. Acc.ordingly, we conclude that on the
facts in this case. the use of these methods separately or a course of.condu.ct wou~d Rot violate
Section 2340A. .

Based CHithe foregoing, and based on the facts that you hav~ provided, wed::includethat

the interrogation procedures that you propose would not violate Section 2~4:0A.. Wewi:sh to
emphasize that this is our best reading of the law; hoWever, you should be a.w.arethat there are no
cases construing this statute; just as there have been no prosccutions brought under it,

Please let us know tfwe can be of further assistance..

~ ~~11 ~

. Ja S. Bv
S5' . nt Attorney. eral
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